ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Florence County
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
MAR - 9 2016
SC SUPREME COURT

ROBERT L. JOHNSON,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001597

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR court err in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not objecting to testimony by Ursula Wardy, the juvenile's teacher, which went beyond the scope of Rule 801(d)(1)(D) by describing more than time and place of the incidents?
2. Did the PCR court err by failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not objecting to testimony by Debbie Elliott, the forensic interviewer, which went beyond the scope of Rule 801(d)(1)(D) by describing more than time and place of the incidents when she was not qualified as an expert, and for providing improper opinion recommendations that juvenile have no contact with petitioner and begin therapy for sexual victimization?
3. Did the PCR court err in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for refusing the trial judge's offer of a curative instruction following counsel's objection to improper testimony of prior police reports, which was sustained, and which refusal resulted in the waiver of the right to raise this issue on appeal?

STATEMENT

The juvenile in this case, at age thirteen, had sex with her boyfriend, K.R., who was a year younger than her. She became pregnant by K.R., as shown through blood testing of the baby boy who was born when the juvenile was fourteen. App. 76, ll. 11 – 23; App. 83, ll. 22 – 23; App. 91, ll. 21 – App. 92, ll. 19; App. 110, ll. 9 – 25.

The juvenile, who was sixteen at trial, testified that when she was in middle school, her teacher recognized that the juvenile was pregnant. It was then that the juvenile also claimed that her “Uncle Robert,” who was her mother’s brother, was having sex with her at the same time. She claimed that “Uncle Robert” had started touching her sexually when she was six or seven. The touching allegedly progressed to oral sex when she was around eleven. When she turned twelve, Johnson allegedly had physical intercourse with her. The child stated that Johnson allegedly used a taser to threaten her into compliance. The child had never made these allegations before then. App. 74, ll. 1 – App. 83, ll. 23.

Based on the juvenile’s allegations, in June 2010, the Florence County Grand Jury indicted Robert Lee Johnson on four counts of second degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor; contributing to the delinquency of a minor; and three counts of committing a lewd act on a minor. On August 2, 2010, Johnson proceeded to trial before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles and a jury. Petitioner Johnson was represented by Vick Meetze, and the state was represented by John Jepertinger and David Richardson. App. 1; App. 27.

Ursula Wardy, the special education teacher for the juvenile when she was in the eighth grade, testified at trial. Ms. Wardy noticed in the fall of 2007 that the juvenile appeared to be pregnant. Ms. Wardy testified that the juvenile told her she had been sexually abused. App. 48, ll. 8 – App. 50, ll. 23.

State: Did she say where that sexual abuse took place?

Wardy: Yes, sir.

State: Where did she say?

Wardy: At her uncle's house.

State: And did she give you any time frame that that sexual abuse may have taken place?

Wardy: No, sir. She just said that she was being molested by her uncle at her uncle's house.

App. 50, ll. 24 – App. 51, ll. 7.

There was no objection by defense counsel. App. 51, ll. 8 – 25.

Debbie Elliott was called by the state as a witness because she conducted the forensic interview of the juvenile. The state moved to have her qualified as an expert in child abuse assessment. Defense counsel objected on the basis that “the testimony being presented here is not testimony that would require her to be classified as an expert.” After an in-camera hearing, the judge ultimately agreed and ruled that he was not going to qualify her as an expert. App. 141, ll. 11 – App. 147, ll. 8. The judge ruled:

I'm going to allow her to testify as to her personal observations and allow her as a lay witness to offer testimony in the form of opinions or inferences that she draws from her experience and her knowledge, but I am not going to qualify as an expert because to do so would unnecessarily bolster her testimony.

App. 147, ll. 9 – 17.

Ms. Elliott then testified that she conducted a forensic interview of the juvenile when the juvenile was fourteen based on a referral from Investigator Michael Robinson with the Florence Police Department. App. 152, ll. 25 – App. 153, ll. 21. The solicitor asked Ms. Elliott what was the testimony of the juvenile to her of the time frame of the assaults. Elliott responded:

Well, she was actually 14 the day that she came into the interview. It was her birthday that day. She talked about having been assaulted. But the last time that the sexual intercourse had happened was when she was 13, but that fondling had started around the age of seven or eight and progressed into other forms of sexual abuse.

App. 153, ll. 22 – App. 154, ll. 4.

Elliott then continued to say that the juvenile told her the abuse happened at her uncle's home in his bedroom, but happened other places as well. App. 154, ll. 5 – 25. The solicitor later asked Elliott if she made any reports or recommendations for the juvenile. Elliott answered:

Yes, I did. I recommended that she have no direct or indirect contact with her uncle. That she begin therapy to begin the process of sexual victimization.

App. 155, ll. 21 – App. 156, ll. 3.

There was no objection by defense counsel to the recommendation, and no objection to any of Elliott's testimony. App. 156, ll. 4 – App. 157, ll. 13; App. 148, ll. 1 – App. 152, ll. 25.

Detective Michael Robinson of the Florence Police Department responded to a call from Williams Middle School regarding the juvenile. After talking with the teacher and counselor, Detective Robinson called the Department of Social Services to be involved. The detective referred the juvenile to the Care House of the Pee Dee for a forensic interview. App. 164, ll. 5 – App. 166, ll. 22.

Detective Robinson then met with Petitioner Johnson for an interview. App. 167, ll. 1 – App. 168, ll. 24. As part of the interview, Detective Robinson said he wanted to establish a timeline so he wanted Johnson's specific addresses of where he had lived. The detective testified: "He was able to help confirm with me ---in the meantime, I had used police reports from the police department to establish his residency filed in police reports, so he was able to help establish.."

Defense counsel objected and an in-camera hearing was held. App. 172, ll. 25 – App. 174, ll. 11.

Defense counsel argued that the use of the word “other police reports” by Detective Robinson led to the assumption that there were reports of prior “legal situations that Mr. Johnson had gotten into.” The judge agreed and ruled that he “sustain any reference to any prior police reports.” The judge continued to rule that the detective could say those were addresses where Johnson had lived but not to say where the information came from. App. 174, ll. 12 - App. 175, ll. 25.

Defense counsel then asked for a mistrial because he argued that the mistake could not be cured. He argued that Johnson’s ability to receive a fair trial had been compromised. The judge responded that he sustained the objection but he was not going to grant a mistrial. The judge stated that, “at the Defendant’s option,” he would order that any reference to police reports be stricken and that he would give a curative charge that defense counsel would agree to. App. 176, ll. 1 – 22.

Defense counsel then said:

Your Honor, I would object to any curative charge, but would move that any testimony be stricken from the record.

App. 176, ll. 23 – 25.

The judge replied that if he did strike it from the record, he probably needed to give a curative charge because he would have to call attention to the mistake. Counsel again objected to a curative charge, and asked that the testimony just pick up without referencing police reports. The judge told defense counsel that the judge was “in a position to grant a more thorough curative charge” but he understood that the defense had requested that he not do so. Defense counsel said: “Correct.” App. 177, ll. 1 – App. 178, ll. 3.

The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all charges as indicted. App. 271, ll. 20 – App. 273, ll. 10. Judge Nettles sentenced Petitioner Johnson to twenty years on one CSC with a minor second degree. On the second CSC with a minor second degree, the judge sentenced Johnson to twenty

years consecutive. On the two other CSC with a minor second degree charges, the judge sentenced him to twenty years each concurrent. Judge Nettles sentenced Johnson to concurrent sentences of fifteen years each on the three counts of lewd act on a minor; and three years for contributing to the delinquency of a minor. App. 288, ll. 16 – App. 290, ll. 7.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner Johnson's convictions on October 31, 2012. State v. Johnson, Op. No. 2012-UP-590 (Ct. App. filed October 31, 2012).

On April 29, 2013, Johnson filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). The state filed a return on May 14, 2014. An evidentiary hearing was held on April 15, 2015 before the Honorable D. Craig Brown. Petitioner Johnson was represented by Jonathan Waller, and the state was represented by Croom Hunter. App. 304.

At the PCR hearing, Johnson's PCR attorney told the court that the issues Johnson was raising were general ineffective assistance of counsel, and that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to testimony that was objectionable. App. 307, l. 1 – Ap.. 308, ll. 21.

Petitioner Johnson testified that his trial counsel told him that he was very likely to be found guilty at trial. Johnson admitted that he had a plea offer for ten years but it was his idea to go to trial. He gave his trial attorney a list of witnesses who could prove his innocence. But his counsel never called them at trial. Trial counsel advised Johnson not to testify. App. 312, ll. 16 – App. 318, ll. 21; App. 309, ll. 1 – 25; App. 320, ll. 3 – 24.

Trial counsel testified that he sent his investigator to talk with the witnesses Johnson provided to him. However, counsel felt these witnesses would not benefit Johnson from a testimonial standpoint. App. 322, ll. 25 – App. 323, ll. 25.

When asked if he knew Rule 801(d), SCRE, counsel replied that he thought it regarded testimony of the time and place of alleged sexual assaults by "disclosure witnesses." Then PCR

counsel asked him what his trial strategy was in not objecting to the testimony by Ursula Wardy that the juvenile told her the sexual abuse was by her uncle and happened at her uncle's house. (Page 25¹ of the trial transcript). App. 325, ll. 1 – 23. Trial counsel replied:

There would not have been any strategy. It would have ---if it's objectionable, it would be an objection that I missed.

App. 325, ll. 24 – 25.

When asked what his strategy was for not objecting to the same kind of testimony by Debbie Elliott that the juvenile told her that she was abused by her uncle at her uncle's home in his bedroom, and happened other places as well (Page 128,² ll. 1- 10 of the trial transcript). Counsel replied: "No strategy. If it's objectionable, it's an objection that I missed." App. 326, ll. 1 – 9.

Then PCR counsel asked about trial counsel's mistrial motion that he made on page 148³ of the trial transcript in response to the testimony of one of the officers. Trial counsel replied that he objected to Detective Michael Robinson's testimony regarding obtaining Johnson's previous addresses from prior police reports. The judge sustained the objection and counsel asked for a mistrial which the judge denied. App. 326, ll. 10 – App. 327, ll. 21. When asked his reason for not asking for a curative charge, trial counsel responded:

I'll be honest with you. One thing that has always confused me is the proper way to preserve a mistrial motion and a denial of a mistrial. And why you can't just say I move for a mistrial, have that mistrial denied, and it be preserved, I don't know. But there are steps that you have to go through, and some people say you're supposed to ask for a curative instruction and then object to it after it's given, which doesn't make any sense to me, but that may be the proper way to do it.

App. 327, ll. 22 – App. 328, ll. 5.

¹ Page 25 of the trial transcript is page 51 of the Appendix. It is the testimony of Ursula Wardy.

² Page 128 of the trial transcript is page 154 of the Appendix. It is the testimony of Debbie Elliott.

³ Page 148 of the trial transcript is page 174 of the appendix. It is the testimony of Detective Michael Robinson.

Counsel continued to testify that he was trying to think of the proper way to preserve the motion because he knew that just making the motion and having it denied was not the right way to do it. That was something that had always confused him. App. 328, ll. 6 – 18.

PCR counsel argued in his closing that there were two main issues for Petitioner Johnson for his PCR. The first was the testimony of Ursula Wardy, the teacher, and the testimony of Debbie Elliott, the forensic interviewer, when both of them went outside the scope of Rule 801(d), SCRE. Both went beyond time and place of the sexual assaults. Both were improper corroboration testimony that was not harmless because they enhanced the cumulative effect. Counsel also argued that this failure to object to this testimony was prejudicial and was ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 335, ll. 12 – App. 337, ll. 2.

PCR counsel then argued the second issue which was trial counsel not asking for a curative instruction when the judge sustained his objection but denied counsel's mistrial motion. App. 337, ll. 3 – 15.

On June 24, 2015, Judge Brown issued an order denying Johnson's PCR application and dismissing it with prejudice. App. 340 – App. 348. The PCR judge ruled that he found trial counsel's testimony credible and found Petitioner Johnson's testimony to not be credible. App. 342. The judge ruled that Petitioner Johnson failed to show that trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. The order provided that trial counsel's performance was not "deficient" for failing to object to the testimony of Ursula Wardy and Debbie Elliott. Judge Brown ruled that Johnson failed to show there was a substantial likelihood that the result of his trial would have been any different if counsel had objected. App. 346. The order stated that trial counsel did a "fine job" of challenging the state's case so there was no ineffectiveness on counsel's part for not

objecting. App. 347. Judge Brown ruled that Petitioner Johnson could show no prejudice because there was overwhelming evidence of guilt. App. 347.

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR court erred in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not objecting to testimony by Ursula Wardy, the juvenile's teacher, which went beyond the scope of Rule 801(d)(1)(D) by describing more than the time and place of the incidents.

Ursula Wardy, the special education teacher for the juvenile when she was in the eighth grade, testified at trial. Ms. Wardy noticed in the fall of 2007 that the juvenile appeared to be pregnant. Ms. Wardy testified that the juvenile told her she had been sexually abused. App. 48, ll. 8 – App. 50, ll. 23.

State: Did she say where that sexual abuse took place?

Wardy: Yes, sir.

State: Where did she say?

Wardy: At her uncle's house.

State: And did she give you any time frame that that sexual abuse may have taken place?

Wardy: No, sir. She just said that she was being molested by her uncle at her uncle's house.

App. 50, ll. 24 – App. 51, ll. 7.

There was no objection by defense counsel. App. 51, ll. 8 – 25.

As seen, Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE, provides that sexual assault victim's prior consistent statements limited to time and place of alleged incident are not hearsay, if victim testifies at trial and is subject to cross-examination. It allows other witnesses to testify that victim complained of assault, but only as to time and place; it specifically circumscribes such testimony by excluding details or

particulars. State v. Jeffcoat, 350 S.C. 392, 565 S.E.2d 321 (Ct. App. 2002); citing Rule 801(d) (1) (D), SCRE; Sanchez v. State, 351 S.C. 270, 569 S.E.2d 363 (2002).

In State v. Jeffcoat, *supra*, the Court ruled that Rule 801(d) (1) (D) does not allow a witness to testify as to identity of alleged perpetrator if the victim testifies. In Sanchez v. State, *supra*, the Supreme Court ruled that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the testimony of the mother and father of the child victim that Sanchez was the perpetrator because it was hearsay testimony since it went beyond time and place.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland v. Washington, *supra*; Butler v. State, *supra*.

A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007); Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997).

In Petitioner Johnson’s case, the testimony of the teacher regarding the statement by the child that her uncle sexually abused her numerous times at his house was inadmissible hearsay and

should have been excluded. It was prejudicial to Johnson because it bolstered the testimony of the juvenile who testified and went beyond time and place.

ARGUMENT

2.

The PCR court erred by failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not objecting to testimony by Debbie Elliott, the forensic interviewer, which went beyond the scope of Rule 801(d)(1)(D) by describing more than time and place of the incidents when she was not qualified as an expert, and for providing improper opinion recommendations that juvenile have no contact with petitioner and begin therapy for sexual victimization.

Debbie Elliott was called by the state as a witness because she conducted the forensic interview of the juvenile. The state moved to have her qualified as an expert in child abuse assessment. Defense counsel objected on the basis that “the testimony being presented here is not testimony that would require her to be classified as an expert.” After an in-camera hearing, the judge ultimately agreed and ruled that he was not going to qualify her as an expert. App. 141, ll. 11 – App. 147, ll. 8.

The judge ruled:

I’m going to allow her to testify as to her personal observations and allow her as a lay witness to offer testimony in the form of opinions or inferences that she draws from her experience and her knowledge, but I am not going to qualify as an expert because to do so would unnecessarily bolster her testimony.

App. 147, ll. 9 – 17.

Ms. Elliott then testified that she conducted a forensic interview of the juvenile when the child was fourteen based on a referral from Investigator Michael Robinson with the Florence Police Department. App. 152, ll. 25 – App. 153, ll. 21. The solicitor asked Ms. Elliott what was the testimony of the juvenile to her of the time frame of the assaults. Elliott responded:

Well, she was actually 14 the day that she came into the interview. It was her birthday that day. She talked about having been assaulted. But the last time that the sexual intercourse had happened was when she was 13, but that

fondling had started around the age of seven or eight and progressed into other forms of sexual abuse.

App. 153, ll. 22 – App. 154, ll. 4.

Elliott then continued to say that the juvenile told her the abuse happened at her uncle's home in his bedroom, but happened other places as well. App. 154, ll. 5 – 25. The solicitor later asked Elliott if she made any reports or recommendations for the juvenile. Elliott answered:

Yes, I did. I recommended that she have no direct or indirect contact with her uncle. That she begin therapy to begin the process of sexual victimization.

App. 155, ll. 21 – App. 156, ll. 3.

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