RECEIVED

JUL 27 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Florence County
Court of Common Pleas
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

2013-CP-21-1147
Appellate Case No. 2015-001597

ROBERT L. JOHNSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHANNA C. VALENZUELA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
Bar No. 79834

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

(App. p. 53, l. 25 – p. 54, l. 10 (emphasis added).)

And when cross-examining Victim, Trial Counsel used Victim’s prior statements to emphasize how Victim’s story had changed about the identity of the father of her unborn baby:

Q. When you spoke to the folks at school, you told them that – well, when you found out you were pregnant, you told them that your Uncle Robert was the father; correct?

A. Yeah.

Q. You didn’t mention to them anything about [the minor child who actually was the father]?

A. Yeah – no, not really.

...

Q. Okay. And, of course, after that, blood test[s] were done to determine the father?

A. Yeah.

Q. It was determined that your Uncle Robert is not the father of your baby?

A. Yes.

(App. p. 109, l. 25 – p. 110, l. 23 (emphasis added).)

Continuing with this strategy, Trial Counsel not only questioned Detective Robinson about this same issue, but over the State's objection, questioned Detective Robinson about an incident report that repeated Victim's allegations that Petitioner was the father of her unborn child.

Q. School personnel, and the folks you spoke with, Ms. Wardy and Ms. Livingston, correct?

A. Yes, sir.

...

Q. And, eventually, Victim did admit that she was pregnant, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And said that the father was her uncle?

A. . . . But to answer your question, I believe that, yeah, she was afraid that her Uncle Roberts was the father, i.e., the reason why she wouldn't admit she was pregnant originally.

...

Q. Does this statement – or does this incident report indicate that the complainant advised – that victim number one confided that she was pregnant and that the suspect [Petitioner], who was her uncle, and her baby's father?

...

A. Yes, sir, that's what this police report says. . . .

...

Q. And it was determined at that point in time that [Petitioner] was not the father?

A. That's correct, D.N.A. results determined that [Petitioner] was not the biological father.

(App. p. 193, l. 8 – p. 196, l. 6 (emphasis added).)

Tying his strategy together in his closing argument, Trial Counsel emphasized to the jury that:

“[I]t's a big deal **that [Victim] said in October to Ms. Wardy** when it was found out that she was pregnant, when she finally came forward and said yes, I'm pregnant, she told her **that the father was [Petitioner.] She was unequivocal** about that. She didn't give any other possibilities of any other person being the father. . . . What's unquestioned is, it was

determined unequivocally that [Petitioner] was not the father after the baby was born in February of 2008.”

(App. p. 231, ll. 4-14 (emphasis added).)

Getting testimony out of Ms. Wardy that highlighted Victim’s initial reporting of Petitioner as the father of her unborn baby and then reminding the jury that DNA proved another person was the father of the baby was a key factor in Trial Counsel’s strategy. Knowing he had to address Victim’s pregnancy because it was related to the Contributing to the Delinquency of a Minor charge and knowing his client had confessed to knowing and not stopping the two children from engaging in sex in his bedroom, Trial Counsel used the pregnancy and Victim’s claim that her uncle was the one to impregnate her to his client’s advantage. As with Watson, Trial Counsel had a “valid reason for employing a certain strategy [and] such conduct [should] not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Watson, 370 S.C. at 72, 634 S.E.2d at 644 (citing Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992)). Not only was this not ineffective assistance, there was no prejudice where Victim’s pregnancy allegation was wrong due to DNA evidence that her baby was fathered by someone other than Petitioner and it was an important part of the defense to outline Victim’s original claims against Petitioner.

II. No prejudice was established where Trial Counsel did not object to Debbie Elliott’s testimony about the Victim’s age when the alleged assaults occurred.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner also made the same allegation against Trial Counsel as regards his failure to object to Debbie Elliott’s testimony. Debbie Elliott, a forensic psychologist who interviewed Victim twice, was asked by the State about the time frame of the assaults as communicated to her by Victim. Ms. Elliott answered that Victim stated the sexual intercourse

happened “when she was 13, but that fondling had started around the age of seven or eight and progressed into other forms of sexual abuse.” (App. 153, ll. 22 – App. 154, ll. 4.)

This Court is well aware that “the rule against hearsay prohibits the admission of evidence of an out-of-court statement to prove the truth of the matter asserted unless an exception to the rule applies.” Dawkins v. State, 346 S.C. 151, 156, 551 S.E.2d 260, 262 (2001) (citing Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 433 S.E.2d 566 (1994)). One exception to the rule allows limited corroborative testimony in criminal sexual conduct cases when the victim testifies. Id.; Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE. The corroborative testimony is restricted to the victim's complaint of the *time* and place of the sexual assault. Dawkins, 346 S.C. at 156, 551 S.E.2d at 262.

As a result, any hearsay testimony corroborating the victim’s statement that the sexual battery occurred while Victim was thirteen years old but that fondling had started around the age of seven or eight and had progressed into other forms of sexual abuse was admissible.¹

Even assuming it was ineffective not to object, there was no prejudice established where there was other evidence that corroborated Victim’s testimony. See State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 111, 771 S.E.2d 336, 341 (2015) (holding error in admitting hearsay testimony by forensic psychologist was harmless because “Appellant’s crimes were established by evidence independent of both” the expert and the victim). In this case, Petitioner admitted to knowing Victim was having sex with another child in his room while he was present. (App. p. 180, ll. 13-22.) Victim’s resulting pregnancy at age 13 was also undisputed. Petitioner was found in possession of a taser, which was the weapon he was accused of using to intimidate Victim into having sex with him. (App. p. 82, l. 17 – p. 83, l. 10; p. 184, ll. 12-17, p. 185, ll. 14-16.) While not definitive as to whether it was caused by abuse or “consensual” sex at the age of 13, a

¹ As in Watson, the jury heard about the forensic interview only through this witness as opposed to viewing Victim’s forensic interviews.

medical examination showed Victim’s “hymenal tissue was thick estrogenized with a cleft, which simply just represents a tear at the five o’clock position[, which] represent[s] . . . past injury to this hymen tissue.” (App. p. 134, ll. 13-23.) Petitioner also admitted to making the unusual claim that he would not be surprised if Victim’s baby came out looking like him because she called him a pervert. (App. p. 182, ll. 8-12.) Additionally, Victim’s guidance counselor testified that at a meeting with Victim and Victim’s mother to discuss issues related to Victim’s becoming upset that kids were teasing her about looking pregnant, Petitioner surprisingly showed up to the meeting and refused to leave the room until directly asked by Victim’s mother to leave. (App. p. 61, l. 14 – p. 62, l. 11.)

Because counsel was not ineffective for failing to object and because Petitioner’s crimes were established by evidence independent of Victim and this witness’s testimony, Petitioner can show no prejudice and this Petition should be denied.

III. Trial Counsel’s alleged failure to object to Debbie Elliott’s improper opinion testimony was not preserved where the allegation related to improper opinion was not presented to the PCR Court, was not addressed in the PCR Court’s Order of Dismissal, and there was no Rule 59 Motion.

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in finding Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to Debbie Elliott’s opinion testimony. However, this argument was not preserved and not addressed by the PCR Court and therefore is not properly before this Court.

At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (citing Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)). “It is ‘axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.’” Id. (quoting Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733). “Imposing such a requirement on the appellant ‘is meant to enable the

lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”); State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 423, 706 S.E.2d 16, 20 (2011) (“Our law is clear that an issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal.”); I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (holding an appellant must present both his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before presenting issues and arguments on appeal).

At the PCR hearing, PCR Counsel specifically pointed to Page 128, lines 1-4 (App. p. 154, ll. 1-4) in the trial transcript (App. p. 326, ll. 1-7) and argued Trial Counsel should have objected when Ms. Elliott answered the question of “What was her . . . answer[] to you in terms of the time frame of her assault” with “[b]ut the last time that the sexual intercourse had happened was [when] she was 13, but that fondling had started around age seven or eight and it progressed into other forms of sexual abuse.” (App. p. 153, l. 22 – p. 154, l. 4; p. 326, ll. 1-7.) PCR counsel and Petitioner never raised the issue to the Court or gave Trial Counsel an opportunity to respond or address the section of Ms. Elliott’s testimony related to her recommendation regarding Victim. PCR counsel was never asked about the testimony in which Ms. Elliott said she recommended Victim have no direct or indirect contact with Petitioner and receive treatment for sexual victimization. (App. p. 155, ll. 21 – App. p. 156, ll. 3.) The issues presented to the PCR court, offered to Trial Counsel to address, and ruled upon by the PCR court were limited to the area of the transcript specifically identified by PCR counsel and did not reach the “opinion” testimony given by Ms. Elliott.

Because this issue was not raised or ruled upon, it was not preserved. This Court should find Petitioner's issue was not preserved and is unreviewable at this stage.

IV. Assuming the issue is treated as preserved, Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the testimony of Debbie Elliott because counsel was not required to be clairvoyant and there was no prejudice to Petitioner.

Should this Court elect to treat the issue as preserved, the petition should still be denied because Trial Counsel was not ineffective. The cases relied on by Petitioner were not issued until years after this case went to trial. Further, a review of the testimony at issue and the evidence in this case shows there was no prejudice to Petitioner.

The long standing principle that has governed PCR jurisprudence is that a defense attorney does not hold a duty of clairvoyance to anticipate either changes of law or facts during challenged representation. Thornes v. State, 310 S.C. 306, 426 S.E.2d 764 (1993). Strickland explicitly states "a court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, **viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct.**" Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690 (emphasis added); Phoenix v. Matesanz, 233 F.3d 77, 84 (1st Cir. 2000) (strategic choices are given greater latitude during trial when time is short.). South Carolina courts "have never required an attorney to be clairvoyant or anticipate changes in the law [that] were not in existence at the time of trial." Gilmore v. State, 314 S.C. 453, 457, 445 S.E.2d 454, 456 (1994) (holding counsel "could not be ineffective" for failing to request a jury charge that would not have been applicable for at least other year).

At the time of Respondent's trial, Chavis and State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013) had not been decided. Kromah, three years after this case went to trial, acknowledged that additional guidance on the admissibility of forensic interviews and testimony was required

and outlined a set of statements “forensic interviewer[s] should avoid at trial.” Kromah, 401 S.C. at 360, 737 S.E.2d at 500. One of those examples was listed as “any statement that indirectly vouches for the child’s believability, such as stating the interviewer has made a ‘compelling finding’ of abuse.” Id. In the years since Kromah was decided, several cases have followed, analyzing whether specific testimony falls within that or another Kromah category. See, e.g., State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246 (Ct. App. 2015) (holding expert’s testimony did not improperly bolster or corroborate child victims’ testimony); State v. Smith, 411 S.C. 161, 171, 767 S.E.2d 212, 217 (Ct. App. 2014) (holding there was no improper vouching); Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (holding expert’s recommendation did improperly bolster Victim’s credibility but because “Appellant’s crimes were established by evidence independent of [expert] and Victim,” that error was harmless).

Petitioner argues Trial Counsel should have used the dissent in State v. Douglas, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009), to foretell the future guidance of the Court on this issue. But, Douglas is very different than this case. Douglas involved a witness **who had been qualified as an expert**. Douglas, 380 S.C. at 505, 671 S.E.2d at 610. Further, the witness in Douglas testified that only upon Victim’s agreement that she would tell the truth, did the forensic interview continue. Id. And Douglas was a case in which “the case turned primarily on the veracity of the victim.” Id.

Strickland requires that Counsel’s performance may not fall below an “objective standard of reasonableness.” Because Kromah and Chavis had not yet been decided at the time of Respondent’s trial, trial counsel’s failure to object was not ineffective. Furthermore, even with the limited guidance provided by the dissenting opinion in Douglas, because of Trial Counsel’s efforts, this case was significantly different. Importantly, this witness was **not qualified as an**

expert due to Trial Counsel's extensive efforts. (App. 142, l. 22 – p. 148, l. 1.) Further, as outlined supra in Section II, this was not a case in which the verdict turned primarily on the veracity of Victim. Even if the testimony was improper, it did not prejudice Petitioner because Petitioner's crimes were established by evidence independent of Victim and this witness's testimony.

V. Trial Counsel was not ineffective and no prejudice was established where Trial Counsel refused the Trial Judge's offer of a more thorough curative instruction and that issue was addressed and ruled upon by the Court of Appeals on direct appeal.

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective when he declined the trial court's offer "to grant a **more thorough** curative charge" because it resulted in a failure to preserve the issue of the trial court's decision to deny the motion for mistrial.

As an initial matter, Trial Counsel objected, placed his arguments on the record, successfully had the testimony stricken, and had the trial court give a curative instruction both immediately after the objection and in the closing charges to the jury. (App. p. 173, l. 23 – p. 178, l. 20; p. 248, ll. 18-24.)

Further, the trial court's decision not to grant the mistrial was the sole issue raised on direct appeal. (App. p. 354.) In deciding to affirm the convictions, the Court of Appeals issued a per curiam, unpublished decision that cited cases related to a trial court's level of discretion in granting or denying a mistrial, related to jury charges instructing a jury to disregard incompetent evidence curing the error, and related to a witness's vague reference to prior criminal activity not warranting a mistrial. (App. p. 362.) The Court did not cite any authority on failure to preserve the issue. (App. p. 362.)

Thus, there was no error as this issue was properly preserved and reviewed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Petition should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.